FILM

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

))))

١

SEP 15 1983

SID J. WHITE CLERK/SUPPOBLE COURT

BARRY	HOFFMAN,
	Appellant,
vs.	
STATE	OF FLORIDA,
	Appellee.

CASE NO: 63,295

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John B. Monroe, Esquire 5426-1 Norwood Avenue Jacksonville, Florida 32208 (904) 765-5534

Attorney for Appellant

1/

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By indictment filed October 28, 1981, appellant was charged with the first degree murder of Frank Ihlenfeld and Linda Sue Parrish. (R 1-3) The Public Defender of the Fourth Judicial Circuit had previously been appointed to represent appellant but withdrew due to a conflict and private counsel Richard D. Nichols was appointed. (T 5-6) Appellant was arrainged on the indictment, stood mute, and the Court directed the entry of a not guilty plea on his behalf. (T 6-7)

On November 3, 1981 the State filed motions to compel blood samples and to compel hair specimens. (R 8, 10) The Court granted the motions. (T 12) On March 22, 1982 appeallant waived speedy trial. (R 20)

On June 25, 1982 counsel filed a motion to suppress all confessions and/or admissions made by appellant. (R 38-39) On the same day appellant filed pro se motions to dismiss counsel. (R 41-43) Both of these motions were denied by the Court. (R 40, 47)

Appellant, through his counsel, and pursuant to plea negotiations, withdrew his not guilty plea and entered a plea of guilty to two (2) counts of first degree murder on June 28, 1982. (T 76) The plea negotiations were that appellant would receive concurrent life sentences and the State would drop the remaining charge against him. Appellant was also to testify truthfully for the State in the prosecution of a co-defendant, Leonard Mazzara. (T 76-77)

Appellant filed a pro se motion to withdraw his guilty plea on September 17, 1982. (R 50) The Court granted the motion. (R 52) On October 4, 1982 counsel filed a motion to withdraw as counsel for appellant, which the Court granted. (R 53-56)

The Court appointed Jack C. Harris as counsel for appellant. (R 56) Counsel filed a motion for statement of aggravating circumstances (R 57), motion

to dismiss indictment or declare that death is not a possible penalty (R 59), motion to declare Florida Statute 921.141 unconstitutional (R 61-62), motion for individual and sequestered voire dire (R 63), motion in limine (R 64-66), motion to declare that death is not a possible penalty (R67-68), motion to produce photographs (R 81-82), demand for discovery of penalty phase evidence (R 83-84), motion for additional peremptory challenges (R 85-86), motion to suppress (R 92), and motion for change of venue. (R 105) All of these motions, except the motion to produce photographs, were denied. (R 93-101, 111, 117)

The cases proceeded to jury trial on January 10-14, 1983, and at the conclusion thereof appellant was found guilty of one (1) count of murder in the first degree, one (1) count of murder in the second degree, and conspiracy to commit first degree murder. (R 120-121)

Penalty phase proceedings were held on January 20, 1983, and at the conclusion thereof the jury returned a death recommendation as to the murder in the first degree conviction (R 122). Counsel filed a motion for new trial (R 123), which was denied. (R 124) The Court adjudicated appellant guilty and imposed the death sentence. (R 126-128, 131)

On February 17, 1983 a timely notice of appeal was filed. (R 144-145) On February 17, 1983 the Public Defender of the Fourth Judicial Circuit was appointed to represent appellant. (R 143) On March 2, 1983 the Public Defender of the Fourth Judicial Circuit filed a suggestion of conflict on appeal. (R 155-156) The trial court denied the motion. (R 158-162) After the Supreme Court received the record on appeal the Public Defender renewed its suggestion of conflict on appeal. The Supreme Court granted the Public Defender's request to withdraw from further representation of appellant and directed the trial court to appoint substitute appellate counsel. The Court appointed John B. Monroe to represent appellant.

This is the appeal of the trial court's denial of appellant's Motion for New Trial.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The trial of this cause began on January 10, 1983. (Tr. 455) The three (3) charges -- two (2) counts of murder in the first degree, and conspiracy to commit murder in the first degree -- were tried together. (Tr. 464)

David Paul Honrath was the first witness called by the State. (Tr. 482) On September 7, 1980, the date of the subject crimes, Mr. Honrath was employed at the Ramada Inn in Jacksonville Beach, Florida. (Tr. 482-83) While passing Room 205 where the murders occurred, Mr. Honrath looked through the window and saw a man's body and blood. (Tr. 485) He then summoned the motel's owner and they both entered the room. (Tr. 486) Upon opening the door, they saw the body of a man and woman. (Tr. 486) They then called the police. (Tr. 486).

Wayne P. Sweat was the second witness called by the prosecution. (Tr. 500) He was a patrol sargent for the Jacksonville Beach Police Department on the date of the subject crimes. (Tr. 500-501) He was notified over the police radio that someone appeared to be injured at the hotel. (Tr. 501) Officer Sweat and another policeman went to the room where the victims were located. (Tr. 501) The officers discovered the bodies of a male and a female at approximately 10:00 A. M. (Tr. 502)

The next witness called by the prosecution was Detective Roy F. Dorn. (Tr. 508) He was an investigator for the City of Jacksonville Beach at the time of the subject crimes. (Tr. 509) He was called to the scene and arrived at approximately 10:15 A. M. or 10:20 A. M. (Tr. 509) He saw the two (2) bodies and stated that the room was bloody and in disarray. (Tr. 510-511) The State's exhibits numbered one (1) through six (6), which were photographs of the murder scene, were introduced into evidence. (Tr. 512-517). The photographs were published

to the jury. (Tr. 517-520)

Detective Dorn testified that he interviewed a woman named Cathy Taylor during the course of his investigation. (Tr. 667) He also testified that he obtained Barry Hoffman's fingerprints from the traffic records of Duval County. (Tr. 667) The fingerprint record was introduced into evidence. (Tr. 673-674) During the course of the investigation, James White, Barry Hoffman's co-defendant, was arrested in Ponte Vedra Beach, Florida. (Tr. 669-670) As a result of an interview with James White, a man names George Marshall was arrested. (Tr. 670) George Marshall testified that he was arrested in January, 1981, in connection with the investigation of the subject murders. (Tr. 680-681) He testified further that he had gotten Barry Hoffman and James White to do "collections" for Leonard "Lennie" Mazzara. (Tr. 681) George Marshall was subsequently indicted for first degree murder. (Tr. 682-683). Mr. Marshall received immunity from prosecution in exchange for his testimony. (Tr. 683-684)

Mr. Marshall testified that he " . . . procured James White and Barry Hoffman for Leonard Mazzara to do collections and to burn someone, which was to kill someone." (Tr. 684) Marshall testified that his wife owed Mazzara Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) on an illegal drug debt. (Tr. 686-691) Due to these asserted drug debts, Marshall and Mazzara developed a relationship and eventually Mazzara asked Marshall in July or August, 1980, to find "crazies." (Tr. 691-693) According to Marshall, Mazzara wanted Frank Ihlenfeld, one of the victims, killed due to a debt. (Tr. 694) Again, according to Marshall, he introduced a man named Wayne Merrill and defendant Barry Hoffman to Mazzara. (Tr. 695-696) Marshall also testified that Mazzara told him defendant Barry Hoffman was going to kill someone. (Tr. 698-699) Marshall said he obtained James White to assist Barry Hoffman. (Tr. 699) Marshall testified that he became involved in the scheme in hopes of having his wife's drug debts satisfied in exchange for his involvement. (Tr. 701)

Marshall testified that on September 7, 1980, Mazzara telephoned him at home and told him that he (Mazzara) would come by Marshall's home to pick him up and that the two of them would take Barry Hoffman to the airport. (Tr. 703) Barry Hoffman and Mazzara arrived at Marshall's home on the morning of September 7, 1980, and the three of them went to the airport. (Tr. 703-704) Marshall testified that while en route to the airport, Barry Hoffman admitted his involvement in and participation in the murders. (Tr. 706-708) Marshall said that Barry Hoffman was taken to the airport and that Barry Hoffman said he was going to New Orleans. (Tr. 709)

On cross examination, Marshall testified that the \$10,000.00 drug debt owed by his wife was forgiven due to his involvement in procuring people to commit the subject murders. (Tr. 721)

Steve Platt, the chief of the Jacksonville Regional Crime Laboratory, Florida Department of Law Enforcement, was called next by the prosecution. (Tr. 526) Mr. Platt arrived at the crime scene at approximately 12:30 P. M. (Tr. 529) He too testified as to the condition of the crime scene. (Tr. 529-567)

Dr. Bonifacio Floro, a forensic pathologist and the Deputy Chief Medical Examiner for the City of Jacksonville, testified for the prosecution. (Tr. 596) He was called to the crime scene to examine the bodies of the two people in the hotel room. (Tr. 600) He arrived at approximately 11:30 A. M., examined them, and determined that the two people were dead. (Tr. 600-601) He described injuries suffered by Mr. Ihlenfeld, one of the victims. (Tr. 602-610) Dr. Floro determined the cause of Mr. Ihlenfeld's death to be "multiple stab wounds of the neck and slash wounds of the neck." (Tr. 611) He classified the death as homicidal. (Tr. 611)

Dr. Peter Lipkovic, the Chief Medical Examiner for Jacksonville, testified as to the autopsy performed by him on Linda Parrish, the female victim. (Tr. 621) He testified as to the fatal wounds suffered by Ms. Parrish. (Tr. 625-638) Dr. Lipkovic testified that the cause of death was homicide. (Tr. 628-629)

Gregory Stejskal, a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), testified that he participated in the arrest of Barry Hoffman in Jackson, Michigan, on October 16, 1981. (Tr. 743-746)

Earl G. Poleski, who was a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation at the time, testified that he participated in the arrest of Barry Hoffman on October 12, 1981, in Jackson, Michigan. (Tr. 752-753) Barry Hoffman was taken by the FBI agents to the Michigan State Police Post in Jackson, Michigan. (Tr. 754) Agent Poleski testified that Barry Hoffman was advised of his <u>Miranda</u> rights while en route to the police station. (Tr. 755) Agent Poleski testified that Barry Hoffman was interviewed by him while in custody and in the presence of three other law enforcement agents. Agent poleski testified that Barry Hoffman was again advised of his <u>Miranda</u> rights. (Tr. 756) A document, marked State's Exhibit 30, was introduced into evidence, over an objection by the defense, which contained <u>Miranda</u> rights and the document was signed by Barry Hoffman. (Tr. 757-760)

According to Agent Poleski, Barry Hoffman admitted his involvement in the murders. (Tr. 764-765)

Stanley Lukepas, another Special Agent with the FBI, testified that he also participated in the arrest of Barry Hoffman in Jackson, Michigan. (Tr. 776-778) According to Agent Lukepas, Barry Hoffman acknowledged his involvement in the murders. (Tr. 782-783) Agent Lukepas testified that Detectives Dorn and Maxwell, members of the Jacksonville Beach, Florida Police Department, came to Jackson, Michigan, the day Barry Hoffman was arrested and they interviewed him concerning the murders. (Tr. 787) Barry Hoffman signed another <u>Miranda</u> rights card, State's Exhibit No. 31, when detectives Dorn and Maxwell arrived. (Tr. 788-789) Agent Lukepas testified that Barry Hoffman admitted his participation in the murders. (Tr. 796-802)

Detective Roy Dorn was recalled as a witness on behalf of the State. (Tr. 830) He testified that he and Detective Maxwell left Jacksonville, Florida

the day Barry Hoffman was arrested and arrived in Jackson, Michigan, at about 11:00 P. M. or 11:30 P. M. (Tr. 836) Barry Hoffman was interviewed then in the Jackson County Jail. (Tr. 836) According to Detective Dorn, Barry Hoffman signed a form stating he understood his <u>Miranda</u> rights before the interview. (Tr. 837-841) According to Detective Dorn, Barry Hoffman admitted his guilt as to the murders. (Tr. 842-848) Detective Dorn testified that Barry Hoffman said he was paid Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00) to commit the murders. (Tr. 843) The alleged confession was never put in writing. (Tr. 875-876)

Ernest Duane Hamm, a crime lab analyst with the Jacksonville Regional Laboratory of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, testified that a Marlboro cigarette package found in the room where the two bodies were recovered contained the left thumb print of Barry Hoffman. (Tr. 884; 892-893)

The State rested its case upon the conclusion of Mr. Hamm's testimony. (Tr. 899)

The defense then moved for judgment of acquittal. (Tr. 901) The motion was based on the contention that the State had failed to establish a prima facie case. (Tr. 901)

Lillian Hoffman had been called by the defense out of turn. (Tr. 639) She testified that she was the defendant's wife. (Tr. 640) She was living in Kenner, Louisianna at the time of the commission of the subject crimes. (Tr. 640) She testified that Barry Hoffman visited her in Louisianna on a Monday in the early part of September, 1980. (Tr. 642) She further testified that Barry Hoffman made a long distance telephone call in her presence from Louisianna and that he reacted with surprise upon learning that two people he knew had been murdered the day or night before. (Tr. 644)

Cathy Taylor was the second defense witness. (Tr. 902) She testified that she was living with Barry Hoffman at the time the subject murders were committed.

(Tr. 905) She testified that Barry Hoffman and James White picked her up from work between 3:00 A. M., and 4:00 P.M., on the day the murders occurred (Tr. 907) and that the three of them spent the night prior to the day of the subject murders at her home. (Tr. 908) She further testified that Barry Hoffman was at her home around 10:00 A. M., when she left for a ball game. (Tr. 911) Barry Hoffman did not go to the ball game with her. (Tr. 923)

Barry Hoffman testified in his defense. (Tr. 935) He testified that he, James White, and Cathy Taylor spent the night prior to the murders together at the house being rented by Cathy Taylor. (Tr. 949-950) He informed Cathy Taylor around 10:00 A. M., on September 7, 1980, that he was going to New Orleans to visit his family. (Tr. 950-951) Leonard Mazzara took him to the airport around 1:00 P. M. (Tr. 951), and he arrived in New Orleans around 10:00 P. M., or 11:00 P. M. (Tr. 951) Barry Hoffman denied that he was involved in the subject murders. (Tr. 953) He testified that when he was arrested in Jackson, Michigan, he was under the influence of illegal drugs (Tr. 962-968; 971; 990) and that he did not recall being advised of his <u>Miranda</u> rights. (Tr. 965) He thought that he reserved his right to remain silent by signing a document concerning his <u>Miranda</u> rights. (Tr. 965) He denied giving oral confessions to the police officers. (Tr. 973) He also denied killing Frank Ihlenfeld or Linda Parrish. (Tr. 973-974)

The defense rested after the testimony of Barry Hoffman. (Tr. 1006)

The State then offered rebuttal testimony from Detective Dorn. (Tr. 1006) His testimony was first proffered at the request of the defense. (Tr. 1006; 1007-1010) Detective Dorn then testified in rebuttal that Cathy Taylor had told him during an interview on March 4, 1981 or March 5, 1981, that Barry Hoffman and James White spent the night prior to the murders at her residence because the two of them had to go to the Ramada Inn the next day to watch a man named "Frank." (Tr. 1012) Detective Dorn testified that Cathy Taylor had told him during that in-

terview that Barry Hoffman and James White left together on the morning of September 7, 1980. (Tr. 1013)

The evidentiary portion of the trial concluded with the rebuttal testimony of Detective Dorn. (Tr. 1021)

The jury returned verdicts of guilty of murder in the first degree as to Frank Ihlenfeld, guilty of murder in the second degree as to Linda Sue Parrish, and guilty of conspiracy to commit murder in the first degree. (Tr. 1138-1139)

The sentencing phase of the trial began on January 20, 1983. (Tr. 1150) Counsel for the State and defense stipulated that Barry Hoffman did not have a significant criminal history and that Leonard Mazzara and James White, the two other men convicted for their involvement in this case, both received consecutive life sentences. (Tr. 1150-1151; 1179)

At the sentencing phase of the trial, the only evidence presented was testimony by Barry Hoffman. (Tr. 1180) He denied committing the crimes. (Tr. 1180-1181) The jury, by a vote of nine to three, recommended that the Court impose the death penalty for the death of Frank Ihlenfeld. (Tr. 1201-1202)

Sentencing was done on February 11, 1983. (Tr. 1210) The defendant's motion for new trial was denied prior to sentencing. (Tr. 1213-1214) Barry Hoffman again denied his guilt at the sentencing hearing. (Tr. 1225) The trial court announced its findings at the conclusion of arguments by counsel. (Tr. 1227-1234) The trial court imposed the death penalty as to the first degree murder conviction (Tr. 1235), 100 years as to the second degree murder conviction (Tr. 1236), and 30 years as to the conspiracy to commit murder in the first degree conviction. (Tr. 1236) The sentences were ordered to run consecutively. (Tr. 1237)

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS CONFESSIONS AND ADMISSIONS AND ADMITTING SAME AT TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

At pretrial, appellant moved to suppress statements made to FBI agents Earl Poleski and Stanley Lukepas, and Detectives Roy Dorn and Tommy Maxwell, on the ground that the statements were not freely and voluntarily made. After being given <u>Miranda</u> warnings, appellant requested permission to make some telephone calls. (Tr. 183) The substance of appellant's phone call was to seek assistance in obtaining a lawyer. (Tr. 207-208) Appellant also stated that he asked Agent Lukepas about obtaining a lawyer and he responded that appellant should wait and see what happens when the detectives arrive. (Tr. 239) Appellant contends that the trial court erroneously denied his motion to suppress because the State failed to meet its heavy burden of establishing that appellant knowingly and intelligently waived his right to counsel.

As stated in North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369, at 373 (1979):

An express written or oral statement of waiver of the right to remain silent or of the right to counsel is usually strong proof of the validity of that waiver, but is not inevitably . . . sufficient to establish waiver.

Rather, "a heavy burden rests on the government to demonstrate that the defendant knowingly and intelligently waived his privilege against self-incrimination and his right to retained or appointed counsel." <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. at 475. Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981).

Appellant asserts that the State failed to establish a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to retained or appointed counsel because appellant's phone calls relative to obtaining the assistance of an attorney constituted at least an equivocal assertion of his right to counsel, which the agent was required

to clarify prior to further questioning, and demonstrated a misunderstanding of the warnings previously given.

In <u>Nash v. Estelle</u>, 597 F. 2d 513, 517 (5th Cir. 1978) (en banc), <u>Cert</u>. <u>denied</u> 444 U.S. 981 (1979), the Court held that where a suspect equivocally expresses both a desire for counsel and a desire to continue the interview without counsel, "it is sound and fully constitutional police practice to clarify the course the suspect elects to chose." To establish a waiver of counsel following an equivocal request, it is incumbent upon the interrogating officer "to clarify the course the suspect elects to choose." <u>United States v. Grullon</u>, 496 F. Supp. 991 (E.D. Pa. 1979); United States v. Chansriharaj, 446 F. Supp. 107 (S.D. N.Y. 1978).

Appellant submits that his phone call relative to obtaining an attorney constituted an arguable assertion of his right to counsel. Agent Lukepas was required to inquire further as to whether appellant wanted an attorney. Here, there was no clarification of appellant's desire. In the absence of clarification, an adequate demonstration of waiver of right to counsel has not been made.

Because the appellant was denied the right to counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and mandated by <u>Miranda</u>, his conviction must be reversed for a new trial.

ARGUMENT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO FIND THAT APPELLANT'S CONFESSION WAS VOLUNTARILY MADE PRIOR TO ITS ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE.

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