## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BARRY HOFFMAN,

APPELLANT,

-VS-

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

This Court in Downs v. State, 386 So.2d 788 (Fla.1980), specifically rejected the argument that a prospective juror could only be excused upon a showing that he or she was unable to return a verdict and quite properly held that prospective jurors who made it clear that they were unable to consider death as a possible penalty could be excused for cause, citing to footnote 21 in Witherspoon, supra. 386 So.2d at 790-791. See also: Spinkellink v. Wainwright, 578 F.2d 582 (5th Cir.1978), cert.denied, 440 U.S. 976 (1979); Maggard v. State, 399 So.2d 973 (1981); Witt v. State, 342 So.2d 497 (Fla.1977), cert.denied, 434 U.S. 935 (1977). The trial judge so held, citing to Witt. (TT 333). Since appellant did not object on the basis that the prospective juror's answers were not unequivocal his attempt to raise that as a basis for reversal is improper. North v. State, 65 So.2d 777 (Fla.1953) and Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 The aforementioned cases, of course, hold that a (Fla.1982). defendant is confined to the specific grounds asserted in the trial court, and new grounds raised on appeal will not be considered because it deprives the trial court of an opportunity to consider the claim and thus avoid any error. Cf. Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla.1978).

Prospective juror Shuler likewise stated he could not recommend a death sentence because of his opposition to capital punishment (TT 310). He was specifically asked whether he could

-12-

do so under any circumstances and he said "No, sir." (TT 310). See also: (TT 326 and 332). Admittedly, Mr. Shuler stated he could reach a verdict but he repeatedly stated he could not return a recommendation of death under any circumstances. Indeed, trial counsel admitted that Shuler ". . . couldn't recommend death (TT 335) and he interposed no objection to the court having excused said prospective juror (TT 336).

As to the excusal of Mr. Shuler, since no objection was interposed, appellant cannot now argue it was error to excuse him. <u>Maggard v. State</u>, supra, at 975; <u>Sullivan v. Wainwright</u>, 695 F.2d 1306 (11th Cir.1983), <u>reh. en banc denied</u>; and <u>Brown v</u>. <u>State</u>, 381 So.2d 690 (Fla.1980).

In Maggard, supra, this Court stated:

If a defendant does not want a prospective juror to be excused on the basis of Witherspoon v. <u>Illinois</u>, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968), he should make his objection known before the juror is excused. This is not an unreasonable requirement in view of the fact that it is certainly possible that the defendant himself does not want the particular juror to serve and is perfectly content to have the juror excused for cause by the court so that he will not have to use one of his peremptory challenges. Additionally, if the defend-ant were allowed to raise this point for the first time on appeal, he would be in a position to "sandbag" the trial court and the State by giving the appearance by his silence that he concurs in the court's excusal for cause of a particular juror. He could then proceed, awaiting the outcome of the trial, secure in the knowledge that if he receives the death sentence it would be set aside on appeal. We affirm our prior holdings in <u>Brown v</u>. State, 381 So.2d 690 (Fla.1980), that where no objection is made before the trial court, defendant is in no position to raise this point on appeal.

399 So.2d at 975.

Inasmuch as trial counsel conceded that Mr. Shuler ". . . said he couldn't recommend death. . ." (TT 335) and did not object to his excusal for cause, he cannot now be heard to argue his responses were unequivocal, <u>Castor v. State</u> (appellate counsel is bound by the acts of trial counsel) or raise the <u>Witherspoon</u> issue on this appeal. <u>Maggard</u>, supra.

Prospective juror Towns first stated that her opposition to the death penalty would prevent her from returning a verdict. The trial judge then indicated that all she would be making would be a recommendation, which, of course, ignores the importance and great weight accorded such a recommendation, and Towns indicated she didn't know whether she could even do that (TT 411-412). Both Mr. Obringer and Mr. Harris, appellant's trial attorney, elected not to question Ms. Towns further. The prosecutor stated, ". . . I'm satisfied that she couldn't recommend the death sentence under any circumstances. . ." (TT 412). Trial counsel responded, ". . . I think that's an accurate characterization of her answer judge. I would object to the excusing for cause on the same grounds previously stated. . . " (TT 412) meaning a juror who could return a verdict but not a recommendation of death could not be excused under Witherspoon, supra.

Appellee submits that the ground <u>asserted</u> was properly overruled under <u>Downs</u>, <u>Witt</u>, <u>Maggard</u> and <u>Spinkellink</u>, and since appellant did not assert the prospective juror's answers were at best equivocal, he cannot assert this as a basis for reversal under <u>Steinhorst</u>. If trial counsel did not feel the juror would

-14-

would automatically recommend life imprisonment, then it was incumbent upon him to object or attempt to rehabilitate the juror. Of course, he stated on the record that he agreed with the prosecutor's characterization of her answer! Appellate counsel is attempting to repudiate the position taken by counsel in the trial court and he is not permitted to do so. <u>Castor</u>, supra.

Inasmuch as the objection raised in the trial court is legally unmeritorious and the newly raised issues were not properly preserved, this Court need not decide whether <u>Granviel</u> <u>v. Estelle</u>, 655 F.2d 673 (5th Cir.1981) correctly interpreted <u>Witherspoon</u> or properly decided the issue presented by the facts of that case.

Moreover, since appellant did not contend below that the prospective jurors were equivocal in their statements of opposition to the death penalty, <u>Allen v. State</u>, 286 S.E.2d 3 (Ga.1982) is not relevant, even if it is factually comparable, which appellee suggests is not the case. In <u>Allen</u>, Mrs. Freeman did state she "might consider death in some circumstances" and none of the three prospective jurors in this case suggested they could.

Appellee declines to address the question of whether either or all of the prospective jurors were equivocal in their answers because if it does and this Court reaches the merits, the ruling will be subject to federal review in any future proceedings. County Court of Ulster County, New York v. Allen, 442 U.S. 140

-15-

(1979); Darden v. Wainwright, 513 F.Supp. 937 (M.D.Fla.1981).
The appellee must preserve its procedural default. Sullivan
v. Wainwright, supra.

Appellant is entitled to no relief under this point on appeal.

#### POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN IMPOSING A SENTENCE OF DEATH.

A THE DEATH PENALTY IS IMPROPER DUE TO THE IMPERMISSABLE ARGU-MENT BY THE ATTORNEY FOR THE STATE AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

#### ARGUMENT

Appellant urges the sentence of death is improper because during argument to the jury on the issue of penalty the prosecutor made improper arguments relating to the death of Ms. Parrish which was not a proper aggravating circumstance. Counsel also urges the prosecutor improperly argued the killing of Barry Hoffman was a heinous murder, after the prosecutor stipulated that an instruction on that aggravating circumstance would not be given. Appellee would note that counsel for the government didn't believe the evidence supported such a finding and was dubious as to the application of the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravating circumstance (R 1162). In any event the jury was not given an instruction on that aggravating factor The jury was instructed that the aggravating (R 1196-1197). circumstances they were limited to considering were: (1) that the defendant had been previously convicted of another capital offense or of a felony involving the use of violence (R 1196); the crime for which the defendant was to be sentenced was (2) committed for financial gain (R 1196); and (3) the crime was

-17-

committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification (R 1196).

Appellee does not, of course, agree with appellant's characterization of the prosecutor's argument. The latter never suggested there were more than three aggravating circumstances presented (R 1181-1191). The quoted portion of Mr. Obringer is taken out of context for he was arguing that only certain kinds of first degree murders were authorized by the Legislature, which, of course, is true, and that since this case involved three aggravating factors they should recommend the death penalty--that this case was above the ordinary first degree murder (R 1190,1191).

The foregoing aside, a cursory examination of the closing argument complained of will reveal that no objection of any kind was interposed at anytime to the allegedly improper argument. This Court has repeatedly held that it will not consider claims directed to the comments of counsel where counsel for appellant did not object timely at trial. <u>State v. Jones</u>, 204 So.2d 515 (Fla.1967); <u>Darden v. State</u>, 329 So.2d 287 (Fla.1976) and <u>Maggard v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 973 (Fla.1981). Cf. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla.1978); <u>Herzog v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u> \_\_\_ (Fla. 1983), 8 FLW 383 and <u>Wainwright v. Sykes</u>, 433 U.S. 72 (1977). The clear procedural default precludes consideration of the aforementioned complaint and this Court should decline to reach the merits.

-18-

Notwithstanding, the claim is meritless and one like it was rejected by the United States Court of Appeals, Eleventh Circuit, in the case of <u>Adams v. Wainwright</u>, 709 F.2d 1443 (11th Cir.1983) on the basis that since the jury was instructed as to what it could consider as aggravating circumstance, the Court would presume the jury followed the instructions. 709 F.2d at 1447. Counsel for appellant has not cited any case to support his position and appellee submits on this point the federal circuit court of appeals is correct. There is no error that affected this appellant's right to a fair sentencing hearing. See also: <u>Shriner v. Wainwright</u>, Case No. 82-5469, Opinion filed September 9, 1983.

> B THE DEATH PENALTY IS IMPROPER DUE TO THE FACT THAT THE TRIAL COURT CONSIDERED THE APPELLANT'S CONVICTION OF SECOND DEGREE MURDER AS A PRIOR CONVICTION OF A VIOLENT CRIME.

Appellant contends that James White actually killed Linda Parrish and therefore he did not commit a violent felony which could be considered as an aggravating circumstance. Appellee respectfully submits this argument is totally unmeritorious and is inconsistent with the position taken by trial counsel. Mr. Harris recognized that under <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 376 So.2d 1149, 1153 (Fla.1979); <u>King v. State</u>, 390 So.2d 315, 320 (Fla.1980) and <u>Palmes v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 648, 656 (Fla.1981), the second degree murder conviction for the death of Ms. Parrish qualified as a <u>prior</u> conviction (R 1158). This, of course, was established in <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla.1977). The record shows that appellant punched Ms. Parrish in the face knocking her to

-19-

the floor and told White "This one is yours" whereupon White repeatedly stabbed her and slit her throat (R 801). The trial judge found this as a fact (R 133) in his written findings, which is quoted on page 24 of appellant's brief.

The jury found this appellant guilty of committing murder in the second degree with regard to Ms. Parrish because he was a principal and/or aider and abettor, notwithstanding the fact that he may not have inflicted the mortal wound. And of course, he violently inflicted a blow to the victim which made the stabbing possible. In law and in fact, appellant was previously <u>convicted</u> "of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person." Section 921.141(5)(b), Fla.Stat. (R 120).

Nothing in either <u>Daugherty v. State</u>, 419 So.2d 1067 (Fla.1982) or <u>Ruffin v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 277 (Fla.1981) suggests because appellant didn't inflict the wound that medically caused the death of Parrish, he has not been convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person.

Appellant's argument under this subpoint should be rejected as being without legal merit.

> C THE DEATH PENALTY IS IMPROPER BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT CONSIDERED THE DEATH OF LINDA PARRISH AND THE MANNER OF HER DEATH AS AN AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

Appellant, quoting paragraphs 7 and 9 of the trial judge's "Findings Supporting Sentence" (R 132-136), urges the trial judge

-20-

considered Ms. Parrish's death and the manner in which she was killed, to-wit: "violently" in an improper fashion. He states that by describing said death as "extremely violent" the trial judge was saying the murder was heinous. This claim is unmeritorious.

First, a crime can be violent and yet not heinous. <u>Cooper</u> <u>v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 1133 (Fla.1976); <u>Godfrey v. Georgia</u>, 446 U.S. 420 (1980), and characterizing a crime as violent is <u>not</u> "another way" of saying the crime was heinous. Secondly, the trial judge in paragraph 7 was describing the "facts" concerning the death of Ms. Parrish and made no finding of an aggravating circumstance. Lastly, paragraph 9 constitutes a finding that the second degree murder conviction of Ms. Parrish was another conviction of a felony involving the use of violence to the person, which is a valid aggravating circumstance under <u>Elledge</u>, <u>Lucas</u> and <u>King</u>, supra, which was discussed under subpoint B herein.

The trial judge did not err in considering the death of Ms. Parrish and that it was done in a "violent" manner.

D THE DEATH PENALTY IS IMPROPER BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT CONSIDERED, AS AN AGGRAVATED, THE MANNER OF THE DEATH OF FRANK IHLENFELD AFTER RULING THAT IT WOULD NOT DO SO.

Appellant contends that the sentence of death in this case is improper because the trial judge found the "capital felony

-21-

herein was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel" (R 134) allegedly after ruling he would not do so (App's Br. p. 26).

This claim lacks merit.

The trial judge never stated he would not determine whether the death in this case was "heinous, atrocious, and cruel", and there is no citation to the record wherein the trial judge even intimated that he would so restrict <u>himself</u> if it became necessary for him to state reasons he felt death was appropriate. The <u>prosecutor</u>, obviously out of an abundance of caution, stated he was not asking that the jury be instructed on this aggravating circumstance (R 1162), and the trial judge did not instruct the jury.

The trial judge, however, three weeks (R 136) later in his written findings of fact found that the killing of Ihlenfeld was done in an especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel manner (R 134). Appellant does <u>not</u> contend the finding is unsupported by the evidence or is erroneous as a matter of law;rather, he urges because the prosecutor elected not to pursue the matter before the jury, the trial judge was precluded from making the finding. In light of this Court's decisions in <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 7 (Fla.1982) and the cases cited therein; <u>Miller v. State</u>, 332 So.2d 65 (Fla.1976); and most recently, <u>Harris v</u>. <u>State</u>, <u>So.2d</u> \_\_\_\_ (Fla.1983), 8 FLW 345, the finding was supported in both fact and law. The aforementioned cases all hold that a physical beating together with multiple stab wounds,

-22-

some of which were defensive in nature, together with evidence that the victim did not die instantaneously fit within the definition of the heinous, atrocious or cruel circumstance.

Doctor Floro's testimony established there were multiple bruises about the head, neck and back (R 605-607); multiple stab wounds to the victim's neck and head (R 606); and slash marks on the fingers and back of the wrist (R 609), which were defensive wounds (R 610). The testimony of Agent Stanley J. Lukepas and George Marshal established the appellant slashed the victim's throat (R 801, 806, 706). According to Lukepas, the appellant stated that when Ihlenfeld moved and still alive or breathing ". . he [appellant] reached down and slit his throat to put him out of his misery." (R 801). Significantly, the appellant prior to slitting his victim's throat, told the latter, ". . he had f\_\_\_\_\_ over the wrong people" (R 707). (Expletive deleted).

Appellant's contention that the trial judge was forbidden from making a finding which so clearly existed because the prosecutor elected not to press the matter before the jury is legally without merit. In the recent case of <u>Engle v. State</u>, \_\_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_\_ (Fla.1983), 8 FLW 357, this Court rejected the argument that the trial judge could not find an aggravating circumstance argued to him by the prosecutor which was not argued before the jury. This Court said, ". . . The trial judge, however, is not limited in sentencing to consideration of only that material put before the jury, is not bound by the jury's recommendation, and is

-23-

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